IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CIRO CAMACHO,

Petitioner

vs.

SUPERIOR COURT OF MERCED COUNTY,

Respondent

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Real Party in Interest

No.: S 2 7 3 3 9 1

Court of Appeal No. F082798

Merced Co. Case No. 146207

FROM THE JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF MERCED COUNTY, THE HONORABLE RONALD W. HANSEN PRESIDING

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

FITZGERALD, ALVAREZ & CIUMMO Douglas C. Foster / SBN 205674 139 W. El Portal Drive, Suite D Merced, CA 95348 <u>dougcfoster.esq@gmail.com</u> Telephone: (209) 691-7280 Facsimile: (209) 691-7290

ISSUES PRESENTED ON REVIEW

- Does the confinement of an individual facing a civil commitment proceeding for fifteen years without trial violate the constitutional right to a speedy trial and deny due process under the State and Federal Constitutions?
- 2. When multiple parties each bear some responsibility for the same period of pretrial delay, does *Vermont v*. *Brillon* (2009) 556 U.S. 81 require delays caused by defense counsel be charged solely to the defendant when defendant's personal access to the courts is restricted?
- 3. What actions, if any, does Due Process compel trial courts and prosecutors to take to protect the accused's right to a speedy trial?
- 4. May a court presume that an unwritten waiver of the speedy trial right remains effective indefinitely and permit defense counsel to reassert such a waiver on defendant's behalf for more than 8 years in the absence of the defendant's personal appearance in court?
- 5. Is petitioner entitled to the dismissal of the pending SVP petition as a matter of right, given that a substantial right has been violated and there is no other plain, speedy, and adequate remedy in the ordinary course of law?

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

Mr. Camacho's case has been pending in the Merced County Superior Court for just shy of two decades. Due to the passage of time, transcripts for many of the hearings were unavailable. The prosecution prepared a "procedural summary" of the case based on the court file and public historical documents. The parties stipulated to the accuracy of that summary and introduced it as "Exhibit A" in petitioner's motion to dismiss. For ease of reference, petitioner's case is broken down into four separate time periods:

A. <u>Filing to Initial Commitment</u>.¹

On August 22, 2002, the government filed a petition to commit Mr. Camacho as a sexually violent predator (hereinafter, "SVP") pursuant to California Welfare and Institutions Code §§ 6600 et. seq. Mr. Camacho made his first appearance on August 28, 2002, before the Honorable William Ivey. (Exhibit A ("Ex.A") at p.1) He was represented by Deputy Public Defender Wayne Eisenhart.² Deputy District Attorney Carlson appeared for the People. (*Ibid.*) Mr. Camacho entered a denial of the petition and was remanded into custody. On September 24, 2002, the court determined that probable cause existed to believe that Mr. Camacho was an SVP and ordered him transferred to the Department of State Hospitals (hereinafter, "DSH"). (*Ibid.*)

In early 2004, Drs. Shoba Sreenivasan, Ph.D. and Kathleen Longwell, Ph.D. submitted evaluations finding that Mr. Camacho

¹ August 28, 2002, to January 11, 2005.

² Mr. Eisenhart represented petitioner from August 28, 2002, to May 30, 2008.

met the criteria for commitment under Welfare & Institutions Code (hereinafter "Welf.&Inst. Code") § 6600. On January 11, 2005, Mr. Camacho was present in court and waived his right to a jury trial. The parties submitted the case to the Court based on the evaluators' written reports and without taking any testimony. The Court found the petition true and committed Mr. Camacho to DSH for a two-year term pursuant to Welf. & Inst. Code § 6604.³ (Ex.A at p. 5.)

B. OSC to Appointment of Conflict Counsel.⁴

During this period, 49 hearings were held in petitioner's case. He was present for five of them. Mr. Eisenhart filed a request for an order to show cause and petitioner's case came before the court on April 14, 2006. (Ex. A at p. 5.) At the time Mr. Camacho was residing at the Coalinga State Hospital. On November 6, 2006, Hy Malinek, PsyD prepared a recommitment evaluation noting that Camacho was a medium-low risk for reoffense but found that Mr. Camacho continued to meet criteria for commitment.

Mr. Eisenhart's request for an order to show cause was withdrawn based on the December 18, 2006, filing of a petition to extend Mr. Camacho's commitment. (Ex.A at p. 6.) <u>Mr. Camacho remains pending trial on this petition</u>. On February 8, 2007, Mr. Camacho waived his right to a probable cause hearing on the recommitment petition. (*Id.* at p. 7.)

³ That section was amended the following year, deleting the twoyear sentence provision, and making commitments pursuant to the SVPA indeterminate.

⁴ August 14, 2006, to August 8, 2008.

Deputy Public Defender Vincent Andrade took over petitioner's case on May 30, 2008, then declared a conflict on July 25, 2008. (Ex.A at pps. 9-10.) The court referred Mr. Camacho's case to the conflict panel – who assigned attorney William Davis. Davis accepted appointment on August 8, 2008. Thereafter, four more hearings took place before Mr. Camacho appeared in court on October 10, 2008. (*Id.* at p. 10.)

Also in 2008, Dr. Sreenivasan submitted an updated report finding that Mr. Camacho met the criteria for continued commitment. The report noted that he was participating in sexoffender treatment and making progress. Jack Vongsen, Ph.D. also found Mr. Camacho was progressing in treatment, though he too found that Camacho continued to meet the SVP criteria.

C. <u>William Davis's Representation</u>.⁵

After accepting appointment, Davis appeared with Mr. Camacho in court on October 10, 2008. (Ex.A at p.10.) Between October 10, 2008, and March 11, 2010, there were 28 hearings. (*Id.* at pps. 10-13.) Mr. Camacho was present in court for all but one. The March 11, 2010, appearance, however, would be his last for more than eight years. <u>Between March 11, 2010, and July 5,</u> <u>2018, Mr. Camacho did not make a single appearance in court,</u> <u>despite his case being on the docket 102 times.</u> (*Id.* at pps. 13-25.)

In 2010, Drs. Vongsen and Sreenivasan both reiterated their previous findings that Camacho met SVP criteria. Each continued to note his progress in sex-offender treatment and his commitment to rehabilitation.

⁵ August 8, 2008, to November 6, 2018.

In 2015, four new reports were filed, including a report from John Hupka, Ph.D. finding that Petitioner did <u>not</u> meet criteria for continued commitment. Hupka based his finding on Camacho's substantial progress in treatment and opined that Camacho was amenable to treatment in the community. Drs. Jack Vongsen, Wesley Maram, and Douglas Korpi all opined that Mr. Camacho did continue to meet criteria. In his report, Dr. Maram emphasized petitioner's continued participation in treatment as a protective factor. Dr. Korpi's report found that petitioner was "veering ever so close to no longer meeting criteria." Despite these favorable reports, attorney Davis did not set the matter for trial or other evidentiary hearing in 2015. (Ex.A at pps. 21-22.)

On May 17, 2018, the Honorable Douglas Mewhinney (sitting as a visiting judge) ordered that petitioner appear by video conferencing at the next court hearing. (Ex.A at p. 24.) That did not happen, but Mr. Camacho was finally returned to court – via video conferencing – on July 5, 2018, where he took part in an *in-camera* hearing with the court and defense counsel. (*Id.* at p. 25.) It was the first time in 8 years, 3 months, and 25 days that Mr. Camacho had been in front of a judicial officer. Following the *in-camera* hearing, defense counsel set forth his reasons for continuing the case. Based on those reasons, the court found good cause to continue the matter to August 16, 2018. (*Ibid.*) Mr. Camacho did not appear on August 16, nor was he present at the hearing on September 20, 2018, when the prosecution lodged its

first and only objection to a continuance requested by the defense. (*Ibid*.)

On October 4, 2018, petitioner was brought to court in person. He demanded a jury trial. The court scheduled the trial for April 2, 2019. (Ex.A at p. 26.) At a readiness hearing on October 18, Mr. Camacho withdrew his general time waiver and demanded a trial within sixty days. (*Ibid.*) As a result of this demand, the court advanced the trial date from April 2, 2019, to December 11, 2018. (*Ibid.*) Despite having had the case for more than ten years, defense counsel expressed doubts about whether he could be ready to proceed by that date. At a readiness hearing on November 1, the court confirmed the jury trial for December 11. (*Ibid.*)

On November 6, 2018, Petitioner orally moved to dismiss the petition pursuant to *People v. Superior Court (Vasquez)* (2018) 27 Cal.App.5th 36. Fitzgerald, Alvarez, and Ciummo⁶ (hereinafter "FAC") was appointed to represent Camacho in his *Vasquez* claim. (Ex.A at p. 26.)

D. <u>The Current Phase</u>.⁷

On November 29, 2018, following four additional court dates, during which the Court inquired about the *Vasquez* claim and repeatedly confirmed the jury trial, Mr. Davis declared a conflict of interest. FAC was appointed for all purposes at that time. (Ex.A at p. 27.)

⁶ Formerly known as Ciummo and Associates.

⁷ November 6, 2018, to the present day.

On December 6, 2018, Mr. Camacho entered a time waiver to give new counsel the opportunity to prepare his case and to file necessary motions. (Ex.A at p. 27.) Following the appointment of new counsel, Mr. Camacho's case was continued to permit defense counsel to become familiar with the case. Camacho was present via video for these hearings. (Id. at p. 28.) On July 18, 2019 the defense requested petitioner's case be set for trial on October 15, 2019. (Id. at pps. 28-29.) Petitioner's counsel was in trial on another matter, however, and the case was set for trial on February 13, 2020. (Id. at p. 30.) Counsel requested another short delay just before the COVID-19 pandemic took hold shortly after, and all jury trials were halted. On March 11, 2021, petitioner's counsel filed a noticed motion to dismiss based on a violation of his right to a speedy trial and to due process. (Id. at p. 31.) On May 7, 2021, Respondent Court denied the motion and confirmed the matter for trial on June 10, 2021. Proceedings are currently stayed pending this Court's ruling.

E. <u>Relevant Statistics</u>.⁸

- Mr. Camacho was only present for 36 of the 193 hearings or 19%.
- Of Camacho's 36 appearances, 24 took place between October 10, 2008, and March 11, 2010, immediately following William Davis's appointment.
- The People were unrepresented for 15 of the 193 hearings (8%).

⁸ Compiled from Exhibit A.

- Mr. Camacho was unrepresented on 31 occasions (16%).
- The minute order notes the identity of the party moving to continue only 29 times (15%). Thus, for 85% of the hearings, the record is unclear as to which party requested the continuance.
- Of the 29 requests where the moving party is noted, 18 (62%) were listed as joint, 9 were made by the defense, and 3 were initiated by the court. (*Id.*)
- Only 5 good cause findings were made by the trial court (>3%).
- Prior to FAC being appointed, neither party filed a single written motion to continue supported by a declaration setting forth good cause as required by Penal Code § 1050.

F. Petitioner's Speedy Trial Motion.

On March 11, 2021, petitioner moved to dismiss the petition based on a violation of his right to a speedy trial and to due process. On May 7, 2021, the trial court denied the motion and confirmed the matter for trial on June 10, 2021. Petitioner timely filed a petition for writ of prohibition/mandate with the Fifth District Court of Appeals on May 19, 2021. The petition was summarily denied on June 3, 2021, but this Court granted a petition for review and transferred the matter back to the Fifth Appellate District with instructions to vacate the summary denial and issue an order to show cause why relief should not be granted. On January 21, 2022, the Fifth Appellate Division issued its unpublished opinion denying relief.

Relying primarily on *People v. Tran* (2021) 62 Cal.App.5th 330, the court of appeal concluded that, "[o]f the four Barker factors, only one – the length of the delay – unequivocally weighs in Camacho's favor" and therefore upheld the trial court's denial of petitioner's motion. (Opinion of the Court of Appeal, filed January 21, 2022, (hereinafter "Slip Opn." at p. 21.) The court reached this conclusion by concluding that, "the delay was at Camacho's request or agreement" (Id. at p. 19.), noting the many 'general time waivers' entered by Mr. Davis on Camacho's behalf. Because of Brillon's rule that "[a]n assigned counsel's failure to 'move the case forward,' is generally charged to the defendant", the court of appeals concluded that Mr. Camacho was solely responsible for the delays in his case – including the more than 8year period during which he did not appear in court (Id. at p. 20; see also, Brillon, supra, 556 U.S. at p.92.) This reasoning mirrors that of the trial court which also found that the delays were caused entirely by the petitioner. This Court granted review to resolve the question of how courts are to apply due process principles in SVP cases.

ARGUMENT

This Court should find that petitioner's involuntary 15-year confinement without trial violates the constitutional right to a speedy trial and denies due process under the State and Federal Constitutions. When analyzing petitioner's speedy trial claim, it

is important to keep in mind that "the primary burden [is] on the courts and the prosecutors to assure that cases are brought to trial." (*Barker v. Wingo*, (1972) 407 U.S. 514, 529.) While some responsibility for the delay can be properly charged to petitioner, on balance the state is more responsible. Thus, petitioner urges this Court to conclude that the official negligence of the prosecution and trial court resulted in a systemic, institutional failure so grave that it denied petitioner due process.

Barker v. Wingo, supra, establishes that a court weighing a speedy trial claim must weigh four factors: the length of the delay, the reason for the delay, the defendant's assertion of his right, and the prejudice to the defendant. The *Matthews v*. *Eldridge* test requires analysis of the private interest affected by the official action, the risk of an erroneous deprivation of that interest – taking into consideration the procedures used, and the government's interest, including the function involved and administrative burdens that a different or additional process would require.⁹

Existing case law regarding speedy trial claims in the SVP context supports petitioner's contention that the *Barker* and *Matthews* factors weigh in his favor. The lower courts mistakenly reached the opposite conclusion, finding that only the length of the delay weighed in petitioner's favor. There are five major flaws in this reasoning.

First, the lower courts mistakenly read *Vermont v. Brillon* to hold that an SVP petitioner's speedy trial rights may be

⁹ Matthews v. Eldridge (1976) 424 U.S. 319.

violated only if there is evidence of a systemic breakdown of the public defender system. Second, the lower courts fail to assign any blame for the delay to the trial court or the prosecutors despite substantial evidence of official negligence, effectively ignoring the instructions provided by this Court in *People v*. *Williams*.¹⁰ Third, the lower courts ignore long-standing precedent in holding that defense counsel's entry of a "general time waiver" in petitioner's absence is affirmative evidence that petitioner was informed of and consented to the delays, thereby effectively waiving his right to a speedy trial. Fourth, the lower courts fail to consider whether a process which does not require the defendant's periodic physical presence in court satisfies the second prong of *Matthews*. Finally, the lower courts fail to account for the presumed prejudice inherent in a 15-year delay between accusation and trial.

I. The Lower Courts Misapplied Vermont v. Brillon.

The rulings of both the trial court and the court of appeal hinge on the principle that, "the attorney is the [defendant's] agent when acting, or failing to act, in furtherance of the litigation." (*Brillon, supra*, 556 U.S. at pps.90-91.) Based on this agency principle, the lower courts concluded that any delays defense counsel sought or acquiesced to must be charged entirely to petitioner. The court of appeals then cites *Tran* for the proposition that only proof of a systemic breakdown in the public defender system could violate due process and concluded that absent such proof, Mr. Camacho could not prevail. (Slip Opn. at

¹⁰ People v. Williams (2013) 58 Cal.4th 197

pps. 19-20.) The interpretation urged by the court of appeals misunderstands *Brillon's* holding, is inconsistent with *Barker*, and results in a rule that is contrary to principles of due process.

A. <u>The Brillon Decision</u>.

In *Brillon*, the United States Supreme Court considered a case involving a defendant's claim that his speedy trial rights were violated based on a three-year delay between his arrest on domestic violence and habitual offender charges and his trial on those offenses. (*Brillon, supra* 556 US at p.81.) The Vermont Supreme Court found that "the failure or unwillingness of several of the assigned counsel, over an inordinate period of time, to move the case forward" should be charged against the State when weighing a speedy trial claim. (*Ibid.*)

The United States Supreme Court granted certiorari because, "the Vermont Supreme Court made a fundamental error in its application of *Barker* [by] ... attributing to the State delays caused by the failure of several assigned counsel to move [the] case forward." (*Id.* at p. 82.) The decision emphasized that Vermont's interpretation would, "treat[] defendants' speedy trial claims differently based on whether their counsel is privately retained or publicly assigned. (*Ibid.*) The decision also found error in Vermont's failure to place proper weight on the defendant's conduct, finding that Brillon's, "strident, aggressive behavior ... impeded [a] prompt trial" and that his, "efforts to force the withdrawal of his first and third attorneys" contributed significantly to the delay.¹¹ (*Id.* at p. 83.)

¹¹ There is no claim that petitioner engaged in any such behavior.

The language that "an assigned counsel's failure to move the case forward does not warrant attribution of delay to the State" (Brillon, supra at p. 82) means only what it says. Brillon does not hold that any delays caused by defense counsel must be weighed heavily against the defendant, or that a due process violation can never occur where defense counsel fails to advance the case. Rather, the *Brillon* court focuses squarely on the question of state action. In addition to the plain language of the opinion, (i.e., "the Vermont Supreme Court made a fundamental error [by] ... attributing [delay] to the State" (Brillon, supra, at p. 82.)), its references to Coleman v. Thompson (1991) 501 U.S. 722 [appellate attorney is not a state actor in federal *habeas* action because defendant has no constitutional right to counsel in postconviction proceedings] and Polk County v. Dodson (1981) 454 U.S. 312 [public defenders do not act under color of state law when representing indigent defendants] underscore that focus.

B. <u>A Due Process Violation Need Not be Based on a</u> <u>Systemic Breakdown of the Public Defender System</u>.

The *Brillon* court wrote, "[t]he general rule attributing to the defendant delay caused by assigned counsel is not absolute. Delay resulting from a systemic 'breakdown in the public defender system' could be charged to the State." (*Brillon, supra*, 566 U.S. at p. 94.) The court of appeals seemingly interprets this statement as holding that due process is violated <u>only</u> when such a systemic breakdown occurs. After citing several cases where a breakdown in the public defender system was found, the court of appeals concluded: Without a more developed factual record, we cannot make a determination whether the defense delays were justifiable, or 'whether the lack of progress was attributable to each attorney's own inability to properly manage or prioritize his or her caseload, or whether the performance of individual attorneys was indicative unreasonable or resource misallocated constraints. resources. inadequate monitoring or supervision, or other systemic problems. (Slip Opn at p. 20, quoting, People v. Tran (2021) 62 Cal.App.5th 330, 352.)

But no such determination is necessary in petitioner's case. The gravamen of petitioner's claim is not that there was a breakdown in the public defender system. Rather, petitioner argues that it is manifestly unfair to place significant weight on the delays sought by his attorneys when he was not present in court to object to them. Petitioner further claims that the state actors acted negligently in failing to secure his appearance and failing to take any action to protect his speedy trial rights. Finally, he contends that this official negligence outweighs any blame chargeable to petitioner as a result of the inaction by his attorneys.

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