No. S273391

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

CIRO CAMACHO,

Petitioner,

v.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF MERCED COUNTY, Respondent:

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, Real Party in Interest.

Fifth Appellate District, Case No. F082798 Merced County Superior Court, Case No. 146207 The Honorable Ronald W. Hansen, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

ARGUMENT

I. CAMACHO'S MOTION TO DISMISS FAILED TO ESTABLISH A SPEEDY TRIAL RIGHT VIOLATION

Highlighting the fact that the 2006 petition for his commitment as an SVP had been pending for 15 years when he filed his 2021 motion to dismiss, Camacho claims that the trial court—and in turn the Court of Appeal—erred in concluding that he did not suffer a violation of his due process right to a timely trial. (OBM 14.) To the contrary, Camacho's unsupported motion to dismiss failed to establish a speedy trial right violation.

From 2006 to 2018, Camacho, either personally or through counsel, requested, agreed to, or acquiesced in all continuances in the case. During that same time, Camacho, either personally or through counsel, entered numerous time waivers.

⁷ The trial court proceedings remain stayed, pursuant to an order issued by this Court at the time it granted review.

In October 2018, after years of expressing no desire for his case to proceed to trial, Camacho changed course and sought dismissal based on the same delay to which he had acceded. Camacho then changed course yet again and waived time for over two years while newly appointed counsel prepared a motion to dismiss on his behalf.

Recognizing the problem that it creates for him that he did not invoke his speedy trial right until 2018, Camacho points to the fact that, from 2010 to 2018, he was not personally present for any of the hearings in his case. (OBM 16-18, 38-40.) Camacho suggests that Davis, who was his attorney during this time, may have been acting contrary to Camacho's wishes in waiving time and not taking the case to trial. (OBM 40.) Camacho further suggests that his access to the court may have been restricted during this time. (OBM 40-43.) Yet Camacho did not support his motion to dismiss with any proof to rebut the presumption that Davis remained in communication with Camacho and otherwise acted in a professional manner throughout his representation of Camacho. The delays at the hands of Davis are attributable to Camacho.

Camacho also assigns fault to the People and the trial court, arguing that they bear primary responsibility for his case not proceeding to trial. (OBM 15-16, 19, 22-38.) While the People and the trial court do bear a degree of responsibility for the delay in this case, the primary delay is attributable to Camacho.

In the end, Camacho established no speedy trial violation. The trial court properly denied his motion to dismiss.

A. Camacho failed to establish a speedy trial violation under the *Barker* test

The trial court's ruling on a motion to dismiss for pretrial delay is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. (*DeCasas, supra*, 54 Cal.App.5th at p. 801; *Vasquez, supra*, 27 Cal.App.5th at p. 55; see also *People v. Jones* (2013) 57 Cal.4th 899, 921-924 [trial court's denial of motion to dismiss based on violation of due process right to timely adjudication is subject to review for abuse of discretion].) Under the abuse of discretion standard, the trial court's findings of fact are reviewed for substantial evidence, its conclusions of law are reviewed de novo, and its application of the law to the facts is reversible only if arbitrary and capricious. (*DeCasas, supra*, at pp. 801-802; *Vasquez, supra*, at p. 55.)

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Camacho's motion to dismiss under *Barker*, *supra*, 407 U.S. 514. A review of the four factors under *Barker* shows that Camacho failed to establish a speedy trial violation.

1. Length of the delay

Beginning with the first factor—the length of the delay (*Barker, supra*, 407 U.S. at pp. 530-531)—the time at issue here in a broad sense is 15 years, which is the time that passed between the filing of the 2006 petition for Camacho's commitment and Camacho's 2021 motion to dismiss the petition. But Camacho makes no real effort to establish that he was denied his speedy trial right between 2006 and 2010. During those four years, Camacho was personally present in court on multiple occasions; on at least one occasion, he personally entered a general time waiver; and the record contains no indication that Camacho expressed any dissatisfaction with the pace at which his case was proceeding. (Petn., Exh. A, 20-27.)

Camacho also does not argue that he was denied his speedy trial right between October 2018, when he first asserted that right, and March 2021, when he filed his motion to dismiss. In fact, Camacho personally entered multiple time waivers during that time. (Petn., Exh. A, 40-46.)

Thus, in assessing whether there was a speedy trial violation in this case, the proper focus is on the eight years between 2010 and 2018, which is the time when Camacho did not make any personal court appearances. Nevertheless, the People concede that the length of the delay weighs in Camacho's favor, whether characterized as eight years or 15 years.

2. Reasons for the delay

Turning to the second factor under *Barker*—the reasons for the delay (*Barker*, *supra*, 407 U.S. at p. 531)—the goal is to determine "whether the government or the . . . defendant is more to blame for th[e] delay." (*Doggett v. United States* (1992) 505 U.S. 647, 651.) Here, Camacho carries more of the blame.

a. Through counsel, Camacho requested, agreed to, or acquiesced in all continuances during the eight years

In denying Camacho's motion for a new trial, the trial court remarked, "Most of [the] delays were at the request of defense counsel . . . and/or mutually agreed upon by the parties for various reasons." (Petn., Exh. D, 101.) Indeed, the record reflects that, through Davis, Camacho requested, agreed to, or acquiesced in all the continuances during the relevant time—i.e., from 2010 to 2018. (Petn., Exh. A, 27-39.) And Davis entered multiple general time waivers on Camacho's behalf during the same period. (Petn., Exh. A, 27-29, 31-34.)

b. Under Vermont v. Brillon, continuances at the request of defense counsel are chargeable to the defendant

In Vermont v. Brillon (2009) 556 U.S. 81, the United States Supreme Court held that counsel's failure to move a case forward is attributable to the defendant. (*Id.* at pp. 91-92.) This is because the attorney is the defendant's agent when acting, or when failing to act, in furtherance of the litigation. (*Id.* at pp. 90-91.) The same principle applies whether counsel is privately retained or court-appointed. (*Id.* at p. 91.) Attributing to the defendant delay caused by counsel's failure to move the case forward is in accord with the reality that the defendant may have incentives to use delay for a tactical purpose. (*Id.* at p. 90, citing *Barker, supra,* 407 U.S. at p. 521.)

The United States Supreme Court in *Brillon* carved out an exception for situations in which counsel's failure to move the case forward resulted from a systemic breakdown in the public defender system. (*Brillon, supra,* 556 U.S. at p. 94.) Examples of such systemic problems include "unreasonable resource constraints, misallocated resources, [and] inadequate monitoring or supervision." (*Williams, supra,* 58 Cal.4th at p. 249.) In cases of a systemic breakdown, counsel's failure to move the case forward is attributable to the government, not the defendant. (*Brillon, supra,* at p. 94.) But, as Camacho at least implicitly acknowledges (OBM 19), "the record before us contains no facts about the public defender system that would support a finding of a systemic breakdown." (*Williams, supra*, at p. 249.)⁸ Thus, *Brillon* requires that the delay in this case resulting from defense counsel's lack of progress be charged to Camacho. (*Ibid*.)

c. Camacho failed to show that counsel acted contrary to Camacho's wishes in delaying the case

Camacho asserts that there are circumstances short of a systemic breakdown in the public defender system where "the actions of appointed counsel can be charged to the state." (OBM 20.) He "urges the [C]ourt to adopt *Butler*'s sound reasoning" in this regard. (OBM 21.) Even assuming that *Butler*, *supra*, 55 Cal.App.5th 614, was correctly decided on this point—and that delays at defense counsel's request may in some instances be chargeable to the government even absent a systemic breakdown in the public defender system—Camacho fails to establish that the circumstances of this case are such that it is fundamentally unfair to attribute Davis's actions to Camacho.

In *Butler*, the People filed the SVP petition in November 2006. (*Butler, supra*, 55 Cal.App.5th at pp. 625, 629.) In March 2009, the defendant sent the assistant public defender then assigned to his case a letter expressly stating that he wanted to go to trial as soon as possible. (*Id.* at pp. 630-631.) Yet the case was still pending over nine years later when, in December 2018,

⁸ Camacho expressly states that "[t]he gravamen of [his] claim is not that there was a breakdown in the public defender system." (OBM 19.)

the court held a *Marsden* hearing. (*Id.* at p. 634.) During the *Marsden* hearing, the assistant public defender assigned to the case at that time acknowledged that the defendant's file indicated that, from the start, the defendant had requested that his case proceed to trial. (*Ibid.*) And the same assistant public defender related that the defendant had repeatedly expressed to him personally his desire to go to trial. (*Ibid.*)

The public defender in *Butler* declared a conflict of interest in January 2019. (*Butler, supra*, 55 Cal.App.5th at p. 634.) The court appointed new counsel, and, in April 2019, with trial on the SVP petition still pending, newly appointed counsel filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus alleging that the defendant had been denied his due process right to a timely trial. (*Ibid*.) The defendant drafted a declaration in support stating, inter alia, that he had never waived his right to a timely trial and that he had never authorized an attorney to waive it on his behalf. (*Ibid*.)

At an evidentiary hearing, the habeas court in *Butler* heard the testimony of the assistant public defender to whom the defendant had sent the letter in March 2009 invoking his speedy trial right. (*Butler, supra*, 55 Cal.App.5th at p. 634.) Ultimately, the habeas court found no evidence that the attorney had informed the trial court about the letter or of the fact that the defendant had asserted his right to a timely trial. (*Id.* at p. 630.) More generally, the habeas court found that the defendant had "made sincere and repeated demands for a speedy trial . . . throughout his 12-year period of detention awaiting trial." (*Id.* at p. 635.) And the habeas court determined that the defendant's

attorneys "essentially ignored and disregarded his demands for a timely trial." (*Id.* at p. 636.)

The Court of Appeal in *Butler* acknowledged the general rule under *Brillon* that delay caused by defense counsel is charged to the defendant. (*Butler, supra*, 55 Cal.App.5th at p. 658.) But the Court of Appeal agreed with the habeas court "that it would be fundamentally unfair to hold [the defendant] personally and solely accountable for delays caused by his counsel under such circumstances." (*Ibid.*) The court concluded: "[G]iven the habeas court's express findings that [the defendant]'s public defenders ignored his demands for a timely trial and waived time without his authorization, we do not believe it was improper under *Brillon* and *Barker* to give [the fact that the delays were at the request of defense counsel] diminished weight." (*Id.* at p. 662.)

In the case at bar, in contrast to *Butler*, there is simply no evidence in the record that Camacho made any demands for a timely trial that counsel failed to convey to the court or failed to heed. Camacho did not provide his own declaration in support of his motion to dismiss. Nor did he provide a declaration by Davis. Camacho did not provide copies of any letters that it seems logical he would have written to either Davis or the court if in fact the delay had been unacceptable to him or if he had been otherwise dissatisfied with Davis's representation. Camacho also did not request an evidentiary hearing in his motion to dismiss.⁹

⁹ Camacho did not request an evidentiary hearing until, in his traverse to the People's return to the order to show cause in (continued...)

Instead of providing the trial court with evidence that supported his version of events, Camacho sought to benefit from the absence of evidence.

But there is a strong presumption that counsel represented his or her client in a professional manner. (See *People v. Stanley* (2006) 39 Cal.4th 913, 954.) Given Camacho's failure to produce any evidence to the contrary, there is no reason to depart from the presumption that Davis's actions in this case—including his actions in seeking to delay trial—were in accord with Camacho's wishes. (See *Burt v. Titlow* (2013) 571 U.S. 12, 23 ["It should go without saying that the absence of evidence cannot overcome the 'strong presumption that counsel's conduct [fell] within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance""].)

Indeed, there are good reasons why Camacho would have sought to delay trial on the 2006 petition to recommit him as an SVP. In 2005, a court had determined beyond a reasonable doubt that Camacho qualified as an SVP. (Petn., Exh. A, 19.) In 2008,

(...continued)

the Court of Appeal, he fleetingly asked as an alternative to writ relief that the court remand the matter to the trial court with instructions to take additional evidence. (Traverse 22.) Even then, though, Camacho did not specify what additional evidence he believed could help him establish a speedy trial violation. Nor did he explain why he had not succeeded in procuring such evidence despite having had over two years to investigate and prepare his motion to dismiss. Camacho makes a brief reference to the suspension of jury trials prompted by the COVID-19 pandemic. (OBM 12.) But that should not have hampered his ability to investigate his motion and produce any information favorable to his motion. and then again in 2010, both doctors who evaluated Camacho concluded that he continued to qualify as an SVP. (See Petn., Exh. B, 54-55.) The doctors noted, though, that Camacho was participating in sex offender treatment and making progress. (*Ibid.*)

The record thus suggests that Camacho made a strategic decision to delay trial until he progressed in sex offender treatment to the point that he had a realistic hope that a finder of fact would determine he no longer presented a substantial danger to the health and safety of others upon his release from custody. At a trial on the 2006 recommitment petition, the stakes would be even higher than they were when Camacho went to trial on the earlier commitment petition given the change in SVP commitments from two-year terms to indeterminate terms. Thus, it makes sense that Camacho still did not want to go to trial in 2015, when only one doctor concluded that Camacho had progressed in treatment to the extent that he no longer met the criteria for commitment as an SVP. (See Petn., Exh. B, 57.) While this was certainly hopeful news for Camacho, the fact remained that three out of four doctors continued to believe that Camacho met the criteria for commitment. (*Ibid.*)

Camacho is therefore wrong to say that *Butler* involved "very similar facts" to those of this case. (OBM 20.) In *Butler*, the record was clear that the defendant wanted his case to proceed to trial as soon as possible and that his attorneys pursued a strategy of delay over his objections. The record in this case includes no such indications, leaving unrebutted the presumption

that Davis represented Camacho in a professional manner in all respects. Thus, unlike in *Butler*, the delays caused by his attorney are attributable to Camacho.

d. The continuances at counsel's request are attributable to Camacho even though Camacho did not personally appear

Camacho "argues that it is manifestly unfair to place significant weight on the delays sought by his attorneys when he was not present in court to object to them." (OBM 19.) He represents that he was "denied the ability to be personally present in court for 8 years." (OBM 43.) The problem for Camacho, though, is that he provides no evidence that he was denied access to the court. In the absence of any such evidence, the presumption is that his absence was by his own, informed choice.

There is a strong presumption that counsel represented his or her client in a professional manner. (*Stanley, supra*, 39 Cal.4th at p. 954.) Moreover, an attorney has the duty "[t]o respond promptly to reasonable status inquiries of clients and to keep clients reasonably informed of significant developments in matters with regard to which the attorney has agreed to provide legal services." (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 6068, subd. (m); see also *Rose v. State Bar* (1989) 49 Cal.3d 646, 653, fn. 6.)

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